© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Long-Term Metabolic and Skeletal Muscle Adaptations to Short-Sprint Training Implications for Sprint Training and Tapering

Angus Ross¹ and Michael Leveritt²

1 School of Human Movement Studies, University of Queensland, St Lucia, Queensland, Australia

2 School of Biosciences, University of Westminster, London, UK

Contents

Abstract
1. Metabolic Adaptation
1.1 Enzyme Adaptation
1.1.1 Phosphate Metabolism
1.1.2 Glycolysis
1.1.3 Aerobic Energy System
1.2 Resting Metabolites
•
1.4 Summary
2. Morphological Muscle Adaptations
2.1 Muscle Fibre Type
2.1.1 Fibre Type Adaptations to Sprint Training
2.1.2 Fibre Type Adaptations to Rest and/or Reduced Training
2.2 Muscle Fibre Size
2.3 Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Adaptations
2.4 Muscle Conduction Velocity as a Further Indicator of Structural Change?
2.5 Summary
3. Conclusions and Applications

Abstract

The adaptations of muscle to sprint training can be separated into metabolic and morphological changes. Enzyme adaptations represent a major metabolic adaptation to sprint training, with the enzymes of all three energy systems showing signs of adaptation to training and some evidence of a return to baseline levels with detraining. Myokinase and creatine phosphokinase have shown small increases as a result of short-sprint training in some studies and elite sprinters appear better able to rapidly breakdown phosphocreatine (PCr) than the sub-elite. No changes in these enzyme levels have been reported as a result of detraining. Similarly, glycolytic enzyme activity (notably lactate dehydrogenase, phosphofructokinase and glycogen phosphorylase) has been shown to increase after training consisting of either long (>10-second) or short (<10-second) sprints. Evidence suggests that these enzymes return to pre-training levels after somewhere between 7 weeks and 6 months of detraining. Mitochondrial enzyme activity also increases after sprint training, particularly when long sprints or short recovery between short sprints are used as the training stimulus.

Morphological adaptations to sprint training include changes in muscle fibre type, sarcoplasmic reticulum, and fibre cross-sectional area. An appropriate sprint training programme could be expected to induce a shift toward type IIa muscle, increase muscle cross-sectional area and increase the sarcoplasmic reticulum volume to aid release of Ca^{2+} . Training volume and/or frequency of sprint training in excess of what is optimal for an individual, however, will induce a shift toward slower muscle contractile characteristics. In contrast, detraining appears to shift the contractile characteristics towards type IIb, although muscle atrophy is also likely to occur. Muscle conduction velocity appears to be a potential non-invasive method of monitoring contractile changes in response to sprint training and detraining.

In summary, adaptation to sprint training is clearly dependent on the duration of sprinting, recovery between repetitions, total volume and frequency of training bouts. These variables have profound effects on the metabolic, structural and performance adaptations from a sprint-training programme and these changes take a considerable period of time to return to baseline after a period of detraining. However, the complexity of the interaction between the aforementioned variables and training adaptation combined with individual differences is clearly disruptive to the transfer of knowledge and advice from laboratory to coach to athlete.

Sprinting involves the rapid release of muscular energy to propel an athlete forward with maximum attainable velocity. Sprinting is a fundamental constituent of many activities, with the ability to move rapidly offering a considerable competitive advantage in most sports. Sprint performance has been widely tested with a variety of measures from peak, mean or total power to more simple measures such as a time trial or velocity measure over a specified distance. These measures are all strongly related and periodically will be grouped under the banner of 'performance' during this review; however, where possible the specifics of the performance measures will be discussed. Sprint performance has generally proved to be a highly reliable measure (see Hopkins and associates^[1] for a review) particularly when athletes are used as study participants, with coefficients of variation of 0.9 to 2.0% being reported for sprint running and peak power (bike or treadmill). As such, significant changes in performance reported in the literature in response to training generally indicate meaningful adaptation.

To develop sprint ability, athletes and coaches

often employ training methods that involve brief maximal intensity sprint repetitions of varying duration interspersed with either long or short recovery periods. Indeed, this type of training has been shown to elicit improvements in sprint performance (peak and mean power) after as little as 3 weeks of training.^[2] The majority of other sprint studies have observed improvements in performance after sprint training of varying duration,^[3-12] although there have been some exceptions.^[13-15] Training frequency is one factor that may alter performance adaptations with one report suggesting that daily sprint training does not improve either peak or mean cycle sprint power; in contrast, training every third day significantly increased both.^[16] This observation is in agreement with the general consensus among leading coaches who typically recommend about three maximal intensity sessions per week.^[17,18] There is also considerable variation in the nature and magnitude of performance gains observed in response to sprint training. This variation may be caused by the different sprint-training protocols used (notably differences in volume, duration, recovery and frequency), the training status of individuals and the performance assessment employed.

While sprint training has generally been shown to be effective in improving sprint performance, the effects of detraining and/or reduced training on sprint performance are not so well described. In one of the few articles on this topic Linossier and associates^[19] reported that even after a 7-week period of detraining (following 9 weeks of sprint training), peak cycle speed, peak power and time to peak speed were still significantly above pre-training levels. Furthermore, the raw figures in the Linossier et al.^[19] article demonstrated that both peak speed and time to peak speed were in excess of the posttraining level (although not significantly) after the 7-week detraining period. It also appears that power performance is well maintained as a result of shortterm detraining (14 days to 3 months)^[20,21] or is improved by short periods of reduced training.^[22]

The purpose of this article is to review the longterm metabolic and skeletal muscle adaptations to short sprint (<10-second) training and, where possible, reduced training and rest. Although some researchers have investigated adaptations to shortsprint training,^[3,10,12,13,19] much of the sprint training research has focussed on training involving prolonged (>10-second) sprint repetitions.^[15,23,24] Therefore, the literature investigating physiological adaptations to prolonged sprint training will also be briefly discussed where relevant to determine how the nature of different sprint training protocols influences the adaptive process.

1. Metabolic Adaptation

Skeletal muscle is a dynamic tissue that is able to adapt in many different ways to an exercise stimulus. Metabolic adaptations in a muscle are associated with enhancing the ability of the muscle to produce energy. This is achieved by one or more, of three different mechanisms. First, key regulatory enzymes can increase their activity and thus the rate of energy production. Second, increasing the amount of substrate stored in the muscle can increase total energy production. Finally, the muscle can increase its ability to combat the accumulation of certain metabolites associated with fatigue.

Metabolic adaptations to sprint training, and to a certain extent the subsequent detraining adaptations, are largely dependent on the type of sprint training undertaken. Indeed, the bioenergetics of sprint exercise bouts differs markedly depending on the sprint duration and recovery intervals. Energy for muscle contraction during brief maximal exercise of 10 seconds or less is primarily derived from the breakdown of stored muscle phosphagens, such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and phosphocreatine (PCr), and glycolysis.^[25-28] However, when short sprints are repeated or when sprint exercise lasts for up to 30 seconds, the contribution of anaerobic energy production to the energy yield decreases and a significant amount of energy is derived from aerobic metabolism.^[15,26,29,30] Indeed, recent evidence suggests that 13% of energy during a 10-second sprint and 27% of energy during a 20second sprint is generated aerobically.^[27] In fact, no form of exercise can be purely anaerobic or purely aerobic.^[31] Therefore, as the metabolic demands of short- and relatively long-duration sprint exercise bouts appear to be quite different, it follows that intramuscular adaptations very much depend on the nature of the sprint-training programme and that adaptations in both anaerobic and aerobic energy systems will occur in response to training.

1.1 Enzyme Adaptation

A summary of enzyme adaptations to sprint training is provided in table I. More detailed discussion of the enzyme adaptation specific to each energy system follows.

1.1.1 Phosphate Metabolism

Hirvonen et al.^[25] have suggested that brief maximal exercise performance depends on the capacity for using high-energy phosphates (ATP and PCr) at the beginning of the exercise. Indeed, elite sprint athletes have showed the capacity to deplete PCr levels by over 60% during a 60m sprint.^[25] Myokinase [MK; enzyme catalysing the resynthe-

Study	n	Training details	Detraining period	Enzyme adaptations
Cadefau et al. ^[6]	13	8mo, young sprint athletes, sprint running 0-500m, plyometrics, weights etc., frequency not reported		No change in CPK, increased PK, increased PHOS
Dawson et al. ^[10]	9	6wk, 30-80m sprints, 2-4 min recovery, $3 \times \text{week}$		MK insignificant 18% increase, PHOS significant 41% increase, PFK no change, CS significant 32% decrease
Fournier et al. ^[32]	6	3mo, 50-250m sprints, $4 \times$ week	6mo	Training: PFK significant 20% increase, SDH no change. Detraining: PFK 32% significant decrease, SDH no change
Hellsten-Westing et al. ^[33]	11	6wk, 10 sec cycle sprints, 50 sec recovery, $3 \times$ week		PFK significant ~16% increase
Jacobs et al. ^[15]	11	6wk, 15 and 30 sec cycle sprints, 2.5 \times week		CS significant 12% increase, PFK insignificant 16% increase, CPK insignificant 9% decrease
Linossier et al. ^[34]	7	9wk, 5 sec sprints, 55 sec recovery	7wk	Training: CS and CPK no change, PHOS and LDH significant ~9% increases. Detraining: CS significant 19% decrease, CPK, PHOS and LDH no significant decreases
Linossier et al. ^[3]	10	7wk, 5 sec cycle sprints (55 sec recovery), $4 \times$ week		CS insignificant 14% increase, PFK significant 19% increase, LDH significant 20% increase
MacDougall et al. ^[23]	12	7wk, 30 sec cycle sprints, 4 min recovery, $3 \times \text{week}$		PFK significant 49% increase, LDH no change, CS significant 36% increase, SDH significant 65% increase
Parra et al. ^[16]	SP 5, LP 5	2 groups with matched total volume of work training for 2wk (SP) or 6wk (LP) at 24 or 72 hourly intervals, 15 sec sprints with 45 sec recovery		Significant increases, CPK (SP only), PHOS (LP only), PFK (both), LDH (both), CS (both), PK (SP only), see section 1.1 for further details
Roberts et al.[35]	4	5wk, 8 \times 20-30s sprints (200m run), 2 min recovery, 3-4 \times week.		Significant increases in PFK, LDH
Simoneau et al. ^[36]	19	15wk, cycle sprints at 60-90% intensity, $4-5 \times$ week, 15-90 sec efforts	7wk	Training: CPK no change, PFK significant 26% increase. Detraining: no significant decreases
Thorstensson et al. ^[37]	4	8wk, 3-4 \times week, 5 sec sprints on treadmill, rest 25-55 sec		MK significant 20% increase, CPK significant 36% increase, LDH no change

Table I. Enzyme adaptations to sprint training and detraining

CPK = creatine phosphokinase; CS = citrate synthase; LDH = lactate dehydrogenase; LP = long programme; MK = myokinase; n = number of participants; PFK = phosphofructokinase; PHOS = glycogen phosphorylase; PK = pyruvate kinase; SDH = succinate dehydrogenase; SP = short programme.

sis of ATP from adenosine diphosphate (ADP)] activity has been shown to increase (~20%) after short (5-second work intervals with 25- to 55-second recovery) sprint training.^[37] Dawson et al.^[10] have also reported a similar (~18%), although not statistically significant, increase in MK activity after a very similar protocol of short-sprint training. Therefore, it appears that short-sprint training can elicit relatively small changes in MK activity, which may lead to enhanced ATP resynthesis and improved sprint performance. However, the link between increased ATP resynthesis and improved performance is tenuous at present. Further research examining the relationship between the magnitude of the change in MK activity, ATP resynthesis and the change in sprint performance is required to investigate this hypothesis. Longer sprints (15 seconds) have also been shown to substantially increase MK activity, although adaptation appears to be dependant on training frequency with 72 hourly sessions producing an 18% increase in activity, in contrast to 24 hourly sessions which produced a decrease of ~3%.^[16] However, these results again failed to reach significance, possibly because of the small participant numbers

in the study (n = 5 per group). Furthermore, Parra and associates^[16] matched only total work with either a long programme (LP), 6 weeks training at 72 hourly intervals, or a short programme (SP) of 2 weeks training at 24 hourly intervals. Such a design is somewhat flawed in that it fails to discriminate between changes caused by the training frequency difference and changes caused by the total duration of the training period, hence, a relatively slow speed of adaptation may lead to misinterpretation of the results. Interpretation of data from such a design should be examined with this in mind.

Hirvonen et al.^[25] have demonstrated that the fastest sprinters in a group of seven elite male sprint runners were able to more rapidly deplete their PCr levels than the slower runners in the group. Thorstensson et al.^[37] have shown that creatine phosphokinase (CPK; enzyme catalysing the breakdown of PCr) activity increased by 36% after short-sprint training (5-second sprints with 25- to 55-second recovery). However, this increase was statistically significant only at the p < 0.1 level in the group of four participants in this study. Similarly, 15-second sprints have also been shown to be effective at increasing CPK levels.^[16] Conversely, Nevill et al.^[5] have shown that PCr degradation during a 30-second sprint remained unchanged after sprint training involving a combination of short and long sprint repetitions. Other studies have shown that CPK activity does not increase after sprint training.^[6,15,34] A lack of CPK adaptation after sprint training may be caused by the use of prolonged sprints in the training protocols of the studies mentioned above. Alternatively, Cadefau et al.^[6] have suggested that a relatively large activity of CPK is evident in the muscle of sedentary individuals and the stress induced by a period of sprint training may not be sufficient enough to stimulate an increase in CPK activity. Therefore, although higher level sprinters are able to use PCr more rapidly than others, sprint training consisting of prolonged sprint repetitions does not appear to be able to elicit any change in CPK activity. Not surprisingly, no changes in CPK as a result of detraining have been reported either.^[34]

© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Further research is necessary to determine the effect of short-sprint training on CPK activity.

1.1.2 Glycolysis

Glycolysis is initiated at the onset of exercise^[38] and contributes significantly to energy production during 10 seconds of maximal dynamic exercise.^[28] In fact, glycolysis may contribute between 55 and 75% of the metabolic energy production during sprint exercise lasting ~10 seconds.^[27,39,40] Phosphofructokinase (PFK; enzyme that catalyses the phosphorylation of the glycolytic intermediate fructose 6-phosphate) activity has been shown to increase^[3,33] or remain unchanged^[10] after shortsprint training. However, a number of studies have found PFK activity to be increased after sprint training consisting of either longer-duration training repetitions or a combination of long and short sprint efforts.^[6,15,16,23,32,35,41] Similarly, the activities of both lactate dehydrogenase (LDH; enzyme that catalyses the conversion of pyruvate to lactate) and glycogen phosphorylase (PHOS; enzyme that catalyses the mobilisation of stored muscle glycogen into the glycolytic pathway) have been shown to increase after sprint training involving either short (<10-second) or long (>10-second) sprint intervals.^[2,10,16,23,34,35] A higher rate of glycolytic enzyme activity may be responsible for superior brief maximal exercise performance in sprint-trained athletes compared with other athletes.^[42] However, Jacobs et al.^[15] have shown that sprint training (>10second sprints) caused an increase in PFK activity without an expected corresponding improvement in sprint performance. Similarly, Parra and associates^[16] (also using >10-second sprints) showed significant enzymatic adaptations including PFK, PHOS, pyruvate kinase (PK; catalyses the conversion of phosphoenolpyruvate to pyruvate) and LDH in their daily training group without any corresponding increase in performance. Furthermore, Boobis et al.^[43] have observed improvements in sprint performance after sprint training, even though there was no increase in energy provision from glycolysis per unit of muscle mass during sprint exercise. Dawson et al.^[10] have shown that neither PFK nor PHOS activity was correlated with short sprint performance before or after a period of sprint training. However, Tesch et al.^[44] have shown that highintensity exercise performance is significantly correlated with PFK activity and the ratio of PFK : citrate synthase (CS) activity. Therefore, although improvements in glycogenolytic capacity are often observed after sprint training, the functional significance of this metabolic adaptation remains questionable.

With respect to detraining, two studies have examined sprint detraining and its effect on glycolytic enzyme activity. Fournier and associates^[32] used a 3-month training routine consisting of 50 to 250m sprints followed by 6 months of detraining, and reported a return to pre-training levels of PFK after this period. With a shorter 7-week detraining period, the results from Linossier et al.^[34] are a little less clear with LDH found to still be significantly elevated over pre-training levels, although PHOS activity had almost returned to baseline. With these results coming from studies with relatively long periods in the complete absence of training, it is interesting to note that some of the metabolic adaptations have remained. Further research is required to establish the length of time enzymatic adaptations can be maintained during a period of reduced training or detraining.

1.1.3 Aerobic Energy System

The contribution of the aerobic energy system to the total energy requirement of a 10-second bout of maximal exercise is quite small (~13%).^[27] However, when short sprints are repeated with short recovery or when sprint exercise lasts for up to 30 seconds, anaerobic energy production decreases and a significant amount of energy is derived from aerobic metabolism.^[26,27,29,30] Not surprisingly, increases in the activity of key enzymes of the aerobic energy system [succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) and CS] have been reported after sprint training involving relatively long-duration sprint efforts.^[6,15,23,45] Sprint training involving only very short sprint bouts has been shown to decrease^[10] or cause no change^[3] in CS activity. Similarly, training of mixed duration (50 to 250m efforts) has also demonstrated no change in CS activity.^[32] However, an increase in muscle mass might mask any increase in enzyme activity as enzyme activities are usually expressed relative to muscle mass. The results from Dawson et al.^[10] are interesting as these authors demonstrated that maximal oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$) increased after short-sprint training, yet CS activity actually decreased. These results suggest that short-sprint training may induce differential adaptations in central and peripheral aerobic parameters. Alternatively, improving muscle strength and/or resistance to fatigue could increase VO2max. Clearly, adaptation of the aerobic energy system occurs after short-sprint training; however, further research is necessary to determine the exact nature of this adaptation. Not surprisingly, training using prolonged sprints has also been shown to increase VO_{2max}.^[5,46,47] With regard to the effect on oxygen use during sprint exercise the effects are not as clear; however, Mc-Kenna and associates^[46] suggested that when gas exchange both during and immediately after sprint exercise is measured it appears that aerobic metabolism during sprint exercise is increased by sprint training using prolonged sprints.

Limited work has been conducted examining sprint detraining and the effect on aerobic enzymes, and given the lack of response of aerobic enzymes to short-sprint training this is perhaps not surprising. However, a significant decrease in CS activity was reported by Linossier et al.^[34] after 7 weeks of detraining, despite CS activity not having increased significantly over pre-training as a result of the training period.

1.2 Resting Metabolites

Energy production during high-intensity exercise may be enhanced, or maintained at a high rate for longer, if there is an increase in the amount of metabolic substrate available before exercise commences.^[48] A number of researchers have investigated the effect of sprint training on resting muscle levels of ATP and PCr. Both short-sprint training and sprint training consisting of longer duration training repetitions have been reported to cause no change^[3,5,10,37,41] or a decrease in resting muscle levels of ATP and/or PCr. Furthermore, resting levels of ATP in muscle have actually been shown to decrease after 6 weeks of short-sprint training.^[49] This is thought to occur because of an elevation in the rapid turnover of ATP associated with regular intense exercise. Rapid turnover of ATP results in a decrease in the ATP: ADP ratio in the muscle. The decrease in this ratio is partially offset by the catabolism of ADP to adenosine monophosphate (AMP). AMP is subsequently deaminated to inosine monophosphate (IMP), which may be degraded to inosine or hypoxanthine.^[50,51] As both inosine and hypoxanthine can diffuse across the cell membrane, it is possible that repeated rapid turnover of ATP, which occurs during high-intensity training, results in a loss of purine bases from the muscle. A decrease in resting ATP level has also been observed after longer duration sprint training.^[52] The decrease in resting ATP after sprint training may be greater when the volume of training is increased.^[49] In contrast, recent work by Parra and associates^[16] reported a significant increase in PCr as a result of 2 weeks of daily sprint training. However, this result was not seen with 6 weeks of the same training at three sessions per week. It would appear that changes in ATP and PCr levels may be affected by frequency and volume of training although the majority of sprint studies have reported no significant change. Finally, it is of interest to note that although a reduction in resting ATP levels has been reported after sprint training, significant improvements in power output were still observed in these studies.^[49,52] This is perhaps not surprising when it is considered that the contribution of stored muscle ATP to the energy requirements during high-intensity exercise is quite small and unlikely to limit performance;^[53] rather it is the rate of resynthesis of ATP that is important. Furthermore, in vitro studies have demonstrated that muscle fibres can maintain isometric tension despite low levels of ATP.[54]

Increased resting muscle glycogen stores may improve time to exhaustion during supramaximal ond sprint cycle

exercise.^[55] However for 30-second sprint cycle performance (peak power and work) recent work examining short-term changes suggests that muscle glycogen level has no effect on performance.^[56] Therefore, for short sprinting it is likely that moderate changes in muscle glycogen have no effect on performance. In response to sprint training involving long-sprint repetitions, resting muscle glycogen stores have been observed to increase.^[16] However, Nevill et al.^[5] have reported that sprint training consisting of a combination of short- and long-sprint efforts caused no significant increase in resting muscle glycogen level. Nevertheless, the influence of sprint training on resting muscle glycogen stores is difficult to determine without careful control of prebiopsy carbohydrate intake. Consequently, the limited research data in this area makes it difficult to establish the effect of sprint training on resting muscle glycogen stores. Clearly further research is necessary in this area.

In summary, sprint training appears to have little influence on resting muscle levels of ATP and PCr. However, very intense, high volume training may cause small reductions in muscle ATP, but these reductions are unlikely to affect performance. Further research is necessary to determine the effect sprint training has on resting muscle glycogen content.

1.3 Intramuscular Buffering Capacity

Glycolysis is rapid and is initiated very soon after the onset of muscle contraction during highintensity exercise.^[25,26] Consequently, a significant amount of lactic acid accumulates in the muscle during sprint exercise. The hydrogen ions formed from the dissociation of lactic acid have the potential to cause fatigue during high-intensity exercise.^[56,57] A full review of buffering and its effect on sprint performance, however, is beyond the scope of this paper (see Juel,^[58] Allen et al.^[59] and Parkhouse and McKenzie,^[60] for related reviews). Nevertheless, it is known that human skeletal muscle has the ability to offset the change in pH through the use of various buffering mechanisms, including chemical buffers bicarbonate, phosphate and proteins and haemoglobin in red blood cells. Furthermore, evidence suggests that with training there are significant improvements in muscle buffering ability. Sahlin and Henriksson^[61] have reported in a crosssectional study that the muscle buffering capacity was higher in team sport athletes than sedentary individuals. Muscle buffering capacity has also been shown to be significantly increased after sprint training involving long sprint efforts^[41,62] although not all studies have found such a result.^[5] However, with regard to short sprinting, less is known, although Dawson et al.^[10] have suggested the increased run time to exhaustion observed after short-sprint training might have been caused by improved muscle buffering capacity. Unfortunately, no study has directly measured the effect of short-sprint training on muscle buffering capacity. Furthermore, there is an absence of detraining work in this area. Clearly, further research is necessary to investigate this potentially important mechanism of adaptation.

1.4 Summary

In summary, during short-term bouts of brief maximal intensity exercise, high-energy phosphagens, glycolysis and oxidative metabolism all contribute to ATP turnover. An increase in the activity of key regulatory enzymes of these energy systems after sprint training would appear to contribute to improved sprint performance. Although a number of studies have reported increases in enzyme activities of each energy system, others have not. Both duration of sprints and frequency of training appear to influence both performance and enzymatic adaptation. Furthermore, a few studies have shown that performance improvements after sprint training are not related to increased enzyme activity. Likewise, the comparative lack of detraining data makes for inconclusive analysis particularly with regard to the time frames required for training effects to be negated both in performance terms and measurable metabolic changes. Nevertheless, with the data available, the effects of detraining appear to be very limited within the first 2 weeks, with

negligible changes both in performance and enzyme levels reported. Furthermore, even 7 weeks or longer of detraining does not appear to completely eliminate the effects of the previous sprint training. Sprint training appears to have little influence on resting muscle substrate levels. However, very intense, highvolume training may cause reductions in muscle ATP, but these reductions are unlikely to affect performance improvements. Sprint training does appear to increase anaerobic capacity and muscle buffering ability. Currently, however, there is a limited body of literature on short-sprint training with studies using different qualities of enzyme analyses, different training programmes and analytical techniques providing a less than complete picture of the muscle adaptation. Hence our understanding of metabolic adaptations to sprint training/detraining and the manner in which these adaptations contribute to changes in performance is not quite complete. Further research, particularly focussing on very short-sprint training, is necessary in this area.

2. Morphological Muscle Adaptations

Skeletal muscle composition may influence sprint performance in a number of ways. Muscle contraction speed and strength are determined largely by muscle fibre type, sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) adaptation and muscle cross-sectional area. Moreover, skeletal muscle is a plastic tissue that can be modified by a variety of exercise training interventions. The following section describes changes in muscle contractile characteristics that have been observed after sprint training and detraining.

2.1 Muscle Fibre Type

A number of different classification systems have been used to describe the different contractile properties of skeletal muscle fibres (see Pette and Staron^[63] for a more complete review of this area). Brooke and Kaiser^[64] devised a method that enabled muscle fibres to be categorised as slow twitch (type I), fast twitch oxidative-glycolytic (type IIa), and fast twitch glycolytic (type IIb) based on the different pH sensitivities of their myosin ATPase activity. It was believed that myosin ATPase histochemistry was able to accurately reflect the expression of myosin heavy chain (MHC) isoforms in individual muscle fibres. However, more recent work has revealed that myosin ATPase histochemistry can only identify the predominant MHC isoform contained in individual muscle fibres.^[65,66] MHC isoform expression is a major determinant of the contractile characteristics (eg. force development) of skeletal muscle.^[67,68] As it has been shown that individual muscle fibres may contain more than one MHC isoform, [66,69] myosin ATPase histochemistry may not be sensitive enough to accurately assess the contractile character of skeletal muscle tissue. More sensitive techniques such as electrophoresis and immunocytochemistry are now being used to determine the proportion of MHC isoforms contained in individual muscle fibres and the muscle as a whole. Nevertheless, histochemistry has remained widely used within training literature and as such will still be referred to in this review although its limitations are noted.

Classification of MHC subtypes in human skeletal muscle is a matter of some debate with some authors referring to the three major subtypes as I, IIa and IIb^[70] while others suggest that the type IIb human MHC is more akin to rodent IIx MHC^[71,72] and hence refer to it as IIx. Nevertheless, it appears there is a continuum of MHC isoforms from type $I \rightarrow IIb/IIx$, with transitional types between the major subtypes being commonly reported.[73-75] Indications from animal and human studies indicate that type IIb/IIx MHC exhibit highest power outputs, type IIa MHC intermediate power output and type I MHC exhibits the lowest power outputs.^[67,70] Recent in vitro analyses of human skeletal muscle suggest that MHC isoforms (I, IIa and IIb/IIx) are important determinants of the force of a fibre and power per unit area characteristics (IIb/IIx>IIa>I).^[67,68] Furthermore, the maximum unloaded shortening velocity of type IIb MHC is approximately ten times faster than type I MHC.^[67] Therefore, a higher percentage of type IIb MHC, or a change in MHC

reported [73-75] Indi-

isoforms towards greater type IIb expression after sprint training, would be advantageous for individuals wishing to improve sprint performance.

2.1.1 Fibre Type Adaptations to Sprint Training

Adaptations of the contractile apparatus to a variety of training types has been previously reviewed^[76] with endurance training appearing to induce a shift toward type I (IIb \rightarrow IIa \rightarrow I), and it was suggested by Pette^[76] that both sprint and strength training induce a comparable transition. While there are certainly some similarities (i.e. often a decrease in IIb is reported) there do appear to be adaptations specific to the more anaerobic nature of sprint and/or strength training that are further discussed below. Although it should be noted that it is somewhat difficult to discriminate, with respect to adaptations, between effects of volume and the type of stimulus. At this point it should also be noted that with experimental participant numbers between 6 to 18 in the reviewed studies (table II) the results may not be completely representative of a typical population or indeed indicative of the adaptation in elite athletes or those of a mature training age.

Sprint runners have a larger percentage of type II fibres than other athletes^[42] and indeed sprint performance has been strongly correlated with the percentage of histochemically typed type II fibres.[10,79-81] Furthermore, examination of the contractile nature of whole muscle using stimulated contractions in cross-sectional studies demonstrates that sprint athletes have greater rates of both force development and relaxation than what is seen in untrained or endurance trained individuals.^[82,83] Such characteristics would appear to be a logical adaptation to the demands of sprint exercise, therefore, it is often assumed that an increase in type II fibre percentage would be a natural adaptation to a period of sprint training. While this is the case in some sprint-training studies (table II),^[10,13,15,24] other studies have, surprisingly, shown either a decrease in the percentage of type II fibres (accompanied by an increase in the percentage of type I fibres) after sprint training^[3,6,78] or no change in MHC or histochemically typed muscle composition.[11,12,77] Poten-

Study	n	Training duration	Training type/frequency	Performance changes	Change in proportion fibre type/MHC isoforms
Allemeier et al. ^[14]	11	6wk	30 sec cycle sprints, 2-3 × week	No significant changes	Significant increase in IIa MHC (8.7%), significant decrease in IIb (5.5%), insignificant decrease in I (3.2%) [I→IIa←IIb]
Andersen et al. ^[4]	6	3mo	Sprint athletes, weight training and sprints (varied distances), 6 d/wk	Significant improvement in 40 and 20m sprint times	Significant fibre shift (I \rightarrow IIa \leftarrow IIb), observed both histochemically and electrophoretically
Cadefau et al. ^[6]	13	8mo	Young sprint athletes, sprint running 0-500m, plyometrics, weights etc., frequency not reported	Improvement of both 60 and 300m times	~8% significant increase in type I and insignificant decrease in IIa, b, c (I-IIa-IIb)
Dawson et al. ^[10]	9	6wk	30-80m sprints, 2-4 min recovery, $3 \times$ week	Significant improvement of 40m time	~10% significant increase in FT and corresponding decrease in ST (I→II)
Esbjornsson et al. ^[77]	16	4wk	30 sec cycle sprints (20 min recovery), 3 \times week	No significant changes in males, significant increase in peak and mean power in females	No significant changes
Esbjornsson et al.[13]	11	6 + 1wk	10 sec cycle sprints, 50 sec recovery, $3 \times$ week for weeks 1-6, $14 \times$ week for week 7	Insignificant (7%) increase in peak power	Significant fibre shift (I→IIa←IIb) in initial 6wk, increased type I and decreased IIb in week 7
Harridge et al. ^[11]	7	6wk	3 sec cycle sprints (30 sec recovery), 4 \times week	Increase in crank torque at all workloads, increased time to peak tension in muscle twitch	No significant changes
Jansson et al. ^[24]	15	4-6wk	15 and 30 sec cycle sprints, 2-3 × week	No change	Significant decrease in type I (9%), increase in IIa (6%), insignificant increase in IIb (4%) [I→IIa→IIb]
Jacobs et al. ^[15]	11	6wk	15 and 30 sec cycle sprints, 2.5 \times week.	No change	Significant increase (~7%) in type IIa and insignificant (~10%) decrease in type I ($I \rightarrow IIa \leftarrow IIb$)
Linossier et al. ^[3]	10	7wk	5 sec cycle sprints (55 sec recovery), 4 \times week	Significant increase in peak force, power and velocity	Significant decrease in IIb (8.5%), significant increase in I (8%) [I←IIa←IIb]
Ørtenblad et al. ^[12]	9	5wk	20×10 sec cycle sprints (50 sec recovery), $3 \times$ week	Increased total work and average power	No significant changes
Simoneau et al. ^[78]	19	15wk	Cycle sprints at 60-90% intensity, $4-5 \times$ week, 15-90 sec efforts	Not reported	6% significant increase in type I, 6% decrease in IIb (I←IIa←IIb)

Table II. Summary of sprint-related studies investigating fibre type/MHC isoform changes in response to sprint training

FT = fast twitch; MHC = myosin heavy chain; n = number of participants; ST = slow twitch; \rightarrow and \leftarrow indicate the direction of the fibre type shift.

tially, those studies reporting the non-advantageous fibre adaptations may reflect their use of inappropriate training protocols, including some endurance work or only prolonged sprinting,^[6,77,78] or insufficient recovery between repetitions (possibly^[3,11]) or training too frequently (possibly^[3,78]) or finally insufficient total training duration for measurable significant adaptation (possibly^[77]). While it is not possible to make conclusive judgements with the data available it may be hypothesised that decreases in the percentages of type II fibres may be related to the training being in some way excessive or inappropriate for the individuals involved.

The mechanisms or factors that stimulate a change in muscle contractile characteristics [e.g. towards IIb/IIx (I \rightarrow IIa \rightarrow IIb/IIx)] are uncertain and likely to vary between individuals. However, there are a number of studies examining physiological factors that are thought to be influential. Firstly, both stretch and stimulation have been shown to cause repression of IIb myosin in rabbit tissue, with the authors suggesting the IIb is the default gene, that is, it responds positively to a lack of stimulation, namely, rest.^[84] This theory has received support in further animal research with the enforced unweighting of rat hind limbs causing a significant increase in IIb MHC isoforms in postural muscles.^[85] Secondly, stimulation intensity and recovery duration between bouts of stimulation have been examined in denervated rat tissue with three different stimulation groups; low frequency stimulation (20Hz) every 15 seconds, high-frequency stimulation (150Hz suitable for recruiting large fast twitch motor units) every 15 seconds, and high frequency stimulation every 15 minutes plus a nonstimulated control group.^[86] After ~2 months of stimulation the resulting analysis found nonstimulated tissue was 79% IIa/IIx, and both low- and high-frequency stimulation every 15 seconds produced tissue that was ~90% IIa/IIx. In contrast, high-frequency stimulation every 15 minutes was only 52% IIa/IIx and 45% the more rapidly contracting IIb. Such results suggest the importance of recovery and training frequency in muscle adaptation, although a fourth stimulation group combining low frequency stimulation on 15minute intervals may have made the results more discriminating. Nevertheless, the data suggest that recovery duration may be a factor contributing contractile adaptations. Finally, general overloading of muscle has also been examined in rat tissue via the surgical removal of synergist muscle, the remaining muscle showing an increase in histochemically typed type I fibres.^[87]

In more applied sprint studies with human participants some similarities with the work of Ausoni and associates^[86] can be seen. As previously suggested (table II), a number of the sprint studies that have produced a shift toward type I (I \leftarrow IIa \leftarrow IIb) have used protocols with sprints of excessive duration and/or frequency with short recovery periods between repetitions.^[3,6,13,78] As prolonged sprinting involves a considerable amount of aerobic energy production ,^[27,29,30] an increase in type I fibre percentage may indeed be a positive adaptation. Similarly, repeated sprints with inadequate recovery tax the ability of the muscle to oxidise lactate and resynthesise PCr. An increase in type I fibre percentage may benefit these two aerobic processes. Therefore, the influence sprint training has on muscle fibre type transition is likely dependent upon the nature of the sprint training protocol undertaken.

Muscle fibre type changes may also be related to the frequency of training. Esbjornsson et al.^[13] found that 6 weeks of sprint training (repeated 10second sprints) performed three times a week induced a significant increase in the percentage of IIa muscle fibres. In contrast, when participants trained twice daily for an additional week, an increase in the percentage of type I muscle fibre was observed; however, this trend was not in evidence in all participants and no changes in performance (peak or mean power) were reported. Furthermore, as histochemical rather than the more sensitive electrophoretic techniques were used, strong conclusions are difficult to draw from the study. A follow-up study with similar methodology, although perhaps with more sensitive performance measures and direct examination of MHC adaptation, would be a worthwhile addition to the literature. Nevertheless, such research illustrates that potentially the frequency of sprint training may influence the nature of changes to muscle contractile characteristics. The substantial increase in volume in the overload week of the Esbjornsson et al.^[13] study, however, confounds whether changes are caused by excessive volume of training or excessive frequency of training. Nevertheless, the time frame for such changes appears to be rapid, with significant adaptation possible within a week.^[13,87]

In those papers where electrophoretic techniques have been used, there typically appears to be a bidirectional shift towards IIa ($I \rightarrow IIa \leftarrow IIb$).^[4,14] Anderson and associates^[4] used well trained sprint athletes and reported such a shift ($I \rightarrow IIa \leftarrow IIb$) with a 17.6% increase in type IIa MHC isoforms in response to three months of contemporary (including resistance training) sprint training using both histochemical and electrophoretic techniques. In parallel with the MHC adaptations both acceleration times (0-20m and 0-30m) and maximal velocity (flying 20m) improved during this period. Similarly, Allemeier et al.^[14] observed an increase in the percentage of type IIa MHC and a concomitant decrease in the percentage of type IIb MHC after 6 weeks of sprint training involving prolonged (30second) sprint cycle bouts. A nonsignificant decrease in type I MHC (3.2%) was also in evidence in their results. Interestingly, no change in histochemically determined fibre type was evident after sprint training in this particular study, perhaps showing the lack of sensitivity of this technique. In comparison to the Anderson et al.^[4] study, the smaller increase in IIa MHC numbers (8.7%) in this study^[14] was reflected in no significant change in sprint performance (peak or mean power) and is perhaps a function of the shorter training period (6 weeks vs 3 months).

Individual differences and genetic predisposition to different types of training would also appear to influence muscle fibre adaptations in response to sprint training.^[13,19,71] Linossier and associates^[19] reported two subgroups with essentially opposite fibre type adaptations (histochemically typed) to sprint training with short recovery. Although their participants were reportedly 'untrained' it is conceivable that there may have been substantial differences in the levels of conditioning among individuals at the commencement of training, which may have influenced adaptations. However, an equally plausible suggestion is that the genetic makeup that maintains a high proportion of type IIb MHC isoforms despite a heavy training load may be what discriminated these subgroups, and potentially such a genotype may also distinguish elite sprint performers from the sub-elite. Similarly, such a genetic profile may explain the shift to fast twitch characteristics seen among certain individuals in the work by Esbjornsson and associates.^[13] Furthermore, this may give some explanation to the high training frequency and still positive contractile adaptation seen with the elite sprint athletes examined by Anderson and associates^[4] (table II). Again, further use of electrophoretic technique studies would be advantageous in the majority of these studies to more closely examine individual adaptations to sprint training regimens of different types.

2.1.2 Fibre Type Adaptations to Rest and/or Reduced Training

As has been discussed in section 2.1.1 and table II, somewhat in contrast to the potentially beneficial shift toward the explosive type IIb/IIx fibres, the common adaptation to most sprint-training interventions is a decrease in type IIb/IIx MHC and an increase in type IIa MHC (often $I \rightarrow IIa \leftarrow IIb$). Interestingly similar responses have been reported in response to resistance training.^[20,88,89] Type IIa MHC are more fatigue resistance than type IIb MHC and may be a more suitable adaptation for the sprint athlete as the ability to resist fatigue, even during very short sprint bouts, can play a role in determining sprint performance. Alternatively, if the IIb default gene theory of Goldspink and associates^[84] is considered the shift to type IIa MHC observed after most sprint-training research interventions may be because these training protocols allow insufficient rest and may not optimise muscle fibre adaptations.

Anecdotal evidence suggests that short-sprint performance is usually greatest following a period of rest or reduced training such as a competition taper. Recent research assessing changes in the muscle contractile elements may provide some clues as to some of the mechanisms involved. Indeed, Anderson and Aagaard^[20] have recently demonstrated the overshoot phenomenon whereby the percentage of type IIb/IIx MHCs can actually increase *beyond* pre-training levels when resistance training is followed by a 3 month period of inactivity. Furthermore, no significant differences in dynamic power from 0 to 15 seconds were found when comparing the post-training and post-detraining results. That is, this power measure did show a significant and relatively long lasting, improvement from pre-training and it is likely that sprint performance would respond similarly. It is also notable that dynamic power after 15 seconds (15 to 40 seconds) declined back to pre-training levels as a result of detraining, perhaps indicative of the probable difference in responses of short (<10-second) and prolonged (>10second) sprinting to detraining. Similar fibre type shifts have also been reported in other studies as a result of detraining.^[73,85,90] This overshoot phenomenon may explain why other researchers have found that performance decrements in short sprint and power tests are often negligible despite substantial periods of detraining and likely decrements in enzymatic adaptations and cross-sectional area.[19,20,36] Similarly, large increases in rate of torque development in a stimulated twitch have been reported as a result of a detraining period following 8 weeks of resistance training.^[91] Additionally, in the most extreme example of human detraining (i.e. longterm deafferentation via spinal cord injury fibre) composition changes are most radical with almost a complete shift toward IIb being commonly reported.^[75] These types of results and the noted adaptation toward IIb with rest has prompted some elite sprint coaches/scientists to advocate interspersing phases of recovery with those of high training load in an effort to maintain the high IIb status of untrained muscle.^[92] Clearly, further research is necessary to quantify how best to schedule training and recovery cycles to optimise skeletal muscle and performance adaptations to sprint training.

2.2 Muscle Fibre Size

As can be seen in table III sprint training alone does not appear to increase muscle fibre size significantly during short-term (6 to 7 weeks) training periods often despite performance improvements.^[3,14] However, significant increases (5 to 16%) in both type I and type II fibre area have been observed after sprint training ranging in duration from 8 weeks to 8 months.^[6,8] Similarly, significant increases in total muscle volume have been reported following 9 weeks of sprint cycle training.^[19]

With prolonged detraining, muscle fibre crosssectional area would be expected to decrease, particularly in fast twitch muscle, which has been shown to hypertrophy as a result of sprint training. Indeed, as shown in table IV, among elite power trained athletes some decrease in cross-sectional area has been shown in fast twitch muscle within 14 days of detraining, despite no decrement in jump performance.^[21] In contrast, a swim training taper involving a reduced total volume of work but an increased proportion of sprint work elicited a significant 24% increase in type IIa cross-sectional area.^[92] How-

Study	n	Training duration	Training type	Performance change	Change in fibre diameter/muscle size
Allemeier et al. ^[14]	11	6wk	30 sec cycle sprints, $2-3 \times week$	No significant changes	6-12% insignificant increase
Cadefau et al. ^[6]	13	8mo	Sprint running 0-500m, plyometrics, weights etc.	Improvement of both 60 and 300m times	~8-16% significant increase*
Harridge et al. ^[11]	7	6wk	3 sec cycle sprints (30 sec recovery), $4 \times$ week	Increase in crank torque at all workloads, increased time to peak tension in muscle twitch	3.7-6.7% insignificant increase
Linossier et al. ^[3]	10	7wk	5 sec cycle sprints (55 sec recovery), $4 \times$ week	Significant increase in peak force, power and velocity	Significant ~10% decrease in ST diameter,* ~6% decrease in FT diameter
Sleivert et al. ^[8]	8	14wk	10 sec cycle sprints (120 sec recovery), $3 \times$ week	Significant improvement in power output from 0-15 sec in cycle sprint	~5-10% significant increase*
FT = fast twitch; n = n	umber of	participants;	ST = slow twitch; * indic	ates p < 0.05.	

ever, more global measures of muscle volume have shown no decrease in total muscle volume following 7 weeks of detraining, with quadriceps and muscle volume remaining significantly elevated over pre-training values.^[19]

From the aforementioned results cross-sectional area would not appear to be the greatest determinant of sprint performance particularly with regard to short-term adaptation. Hypertrophy in conjunction with maintenance or improvement of the type II/I ratio, however, would be expected to improve power and thus sprint performance in the longer term and would appear from the physique of current elite sprint athletes to be a prerequisite to success at the top level. Nevertheless, this is not an easy goal to achieve, with the majority of the literature on highly hypertrophied/body builder human participants demonstrating slower contraction/relaxation characteristics than untrained individuals^[94] and a strong MHC or fibre type shift away from IIx/IIb toward IIa and possibly type I.^[94,95] In addition to the negatively altered contractile properties, the additional bodyweight from excessive hypertrophy is also likely to be performance limiting for weight-bearing sprint modalities such as running.

2.3 Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Adaptations

The SR plays a critical role in muscle contraction and its actions may strongly regulate both muscle rate of contraction and relaxation. Release of Ca^{2+} from the SR is believed to permit muscle contraction to occur by exposing the active sites on the muscle actin and allowing myosin to attach. Subsequent reuptake of Ca^{2+} occurs on the completion of the contraction via an active transport system (Ca^{2+} -ATPase) that pumps Ca^{2+} from the cytosol back to the SR.^[96] A greater development of the SR allows the release and reuptake of the Ca^{2+} to occur more quickly, hence the size and structure of the SR is crucial to muscle contraction and relaxation rate (RR).

Evidence suggests that muscle twitch contraction time is inversely related to the fractional fibre volume of the SR.^[97] It is known that fast twitch muscle contains approximately twice the volume and area of terminal cisternae as slow twitch muscle^[98] and has faster reuptake of Ca²⁺.^[99] Furthermore, fast twitch fibres have 5 to 7 times greater Ca²⁺-ATPase enzyme density and consequently such fibre has the ability to rapidly fluctuate force levels.^[100] However, recent research suggests that fibre type alone does not determine SR structure (including Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform density) and volume

Table IV.	Changes	in muscle	fibre cross-	sectional area	with sprint	detraining

Study	n	Detraining/ taper duration	Prior training type	Performance change	Change in fibre diameter/muscle size
Hortobágyi et al. ^[21]	12	14d detraining	Power training, well trained athletes	No change in vertical jump (insignificant increase in counter movement jump and drop jump)	6.4% decrease in FT area (significant*) 5.2% decrease in ST area (insignificant)
Linossier et al. ^[19]	7	7wk detraining	5 sec cycle sprints for 9wk	No decrease in peak speed or peak force after detraining (still significantly greater than before training)	~9% increase in type I, ~4% decrease in type IIa, ~13% decrease in IIb (all insignificant). No change in total muscle area
Trappe et al. ^[93]	6	21d taper	Swimming training including sprinters	4% increase in swim performance, increase in swim bench power, increase in shortening velocity of type I and IIa, increase in peak force of IIa fibres	24% increase in IIa fibre CSA,* no change in type I CSA
CSA = cross-sectiona	al area	a; FT = fast twitch ;	n = number of participar	o j j i	

in muscle fibre.^[12] It is known that there can be adaptation of the SR in response to training (see Green^[100] for a more comprehensive review in this area); however, the body of work on adaptation to sprint training is very limited.

Ørtenblad and associates^[12] have provided indirect evidence to suggest that the volume of SR in muscle may increase as a result of 5 weeks of sprint training, without causing concurrent changes in MHC isoform composition. In addition to improved sprint performance (notably increased work, rate of power development and average power per kg), their results showed a significant increase in the rate of Ca²⁺ release. However, the rate of relaxation was unchanged as was SR Ca²⁺-ATPase capacity. Nevertheless, analysis of the Ca²⁺ -ATPase isoforms demonstrated large significant increases in ATPase isoforms of both slow and fast calcium pumps, providing some evidence to suggest a slow to fast transformation might be occurring. However, the immunoblot technique used to assess changes in the Ca2+ -ATPase isoforms does not assess functionality, which may account for the large increase in Ca²⁺ -ATPase isoforms and no change in RR or SR Ca²⁺-ATPase capacity. It is possible the time frame for these isoforms to reach a fully functional state and thus for the change in volume of isoforms to be reflected functionally via an increased RR and increased SR Ca2+-ATPase capacity, may have been longer than the duration of the study. Similarly, rapid changes in SR function such as Ca2+ uptake capacity and Ca2+-ATPase (and associated changes in force production) have been reported in response to denervation^[101] or longterm stimulation^[102] and have been shown to occur more rapidly than MHC changes or histochemically typed fibre adaptation. As with the Ørtenblad et al.^[12] study these results suggest that there is a different time course in the development of SR and MHC adaptations in response to training and that the rapid adaptation to a training stimulus may be caused by SR-mediated changes in Ca²⁺ release.

In view of the aforementioned results, SR and Ca²⁺-ATPase-mediated adaptations may also explain

contractile changes as a result of a period of tapered training. Trappe and associates^[93] have provided evidence showing increased peak force in type IIa fibres and dramatic increases in maximal unloaded shortening velocity in both type I and IIa muscle fibres as a result of tapered training (with an increase in sprint emphasis).

Such results suggest that sprint training and or reduced training may be able to modify contraction characteristics/performance of skeletal muscle without or before changes in MHC, and may account for some positive performance adaptations seen in table II, despite negative or no measurable change in fibre type adaptations. Further work is required to establish the time frame for these adaptations and the resilience of such adaptations to detraining.

2.4 Muscle Conduction Velocity as a Further Indicator of Structural Change?

Muscle conduction velocity (MCV) is defined as the speed of impulse/action potential transmission from the motor point along the length of a muscle. MCV has been correlated with muscle half relaxation time, rise time and twitch torque; however, it is likely that these correlations come about as a function of MCV being largely determined by muscle fibre type and fibre cross-sectional area.^[103,104] As such, measurement of MCV or changes in it may be only indirectly related to changes in muscle contractility and, more directly, reflect muscle fibre type (notably membrane excitability characteristics) and diameter. Nevertheless, MCV provides an indication of the contractility of a relatively large portion of the entire muscle, whereas fibre type and cross-sectional area are usually determined using a highly localised muscle biopsy sample. Furthermore, the non-invasive nature of the MCV technique makes it a potentially more useful measure for muscle level adaptations to training.

To date, only one cross-sectional study has been conducted using sprint athletes as participants.^[103] This study demonstrated that MCV was significantly faster in sprint-trained athletes than in endurancetrained athletes. In addition, muscle conduction velocity was strongly correlated (r = 0.84) with muscle fibre type measured histochemically from biopsy samples. Furthermore, the ability of MCV to discriminate between the two athletic groups was greater than the ability of muscle fibre type measurements to discriminate between the two groups. That is, the slowest sprinter's MCV was greater than the fastest endurance athlete's MCV; while the same pattern was seen in the biopsy data, this level of clear group discrimination was not. This raises the possibility that sprint performance may be more closely related to MCV than the previously demonstrated association between sprinting and muscle fibre type.^[82] However, further research is needed to substantiate this possibility.

The research into longitudinal changes in MCV as a result of sprint training consists of one article with limited statistical analysis. However, Bianchi and associates^[105] reported a consistent trend of increased MCV as a result of sprint training, particularly in individuals with a very low initial performance. Similarly, a 16-week resistance training study^[106] reported a 3.5% increase in MCV although this was not statistically significant. As discussed in section 1.2 and presented in table I, a number of sprint studies have reported a significant increase in type II muscle fibres as a result of sprint training. Such changes and the possible increase in crosssectional area of the muscle as a result of sprint training make it likely that MCV would increase with appropriate sprint training. Perhaps duplicating the methodology of one of the aforementioned sprint studies showing significant changes, and substituting MCV for biopsy work, is the next step in determining the usefulness of MCV measurement as a means of monitoring adaptation of skeletal muscle to training.

The paucity of MCV research is even more evident in detraining with sprint or structured power training/detraining studies being unavailable. Despite the lack of sprint-related work, cross-sectional work with spinal cord patients has demonstrated an increase in MCV as a result of such extreme detraining/inactivity.^[107] Interestingly, this result parallels an increase in type IIb/IIx MHC despite considerable muscle atrophy. This highlights the importance of the fibre contractile characteristics in determining MCV.

2.5 Summary

From this section detailing skeletal muscle fibre adaptations to sprint exercise, a number of factors are apparent. Firstly, sprinters have high percentages of type II muscle fibres and these proportions are well correlated with sprint performance. This fibre composition is modifiable via sprint training with most sprint training studies reporting a bidirectional shift to IIa (I→IIa←IIb/IIx). Training frequency, within session recovery time, duration of sprint repetition and general load on a muscle appear likely to influence contractile adaptations. A prolonged period of sprint training induces muscle hypertrophy, particularly in fast twitch muscle. Sprint training further modifies the muscle contractile characteristics via increased development of the SR, not necessarily in conjunction with changes in MHC isoforms. Individuals exhibit differences in these adaptations to similar training regimens presumably because of genetic differences or previous training history discrepancies. Detraining eventually causes a shift in muscle fibre composition towards type II; however, atrophy will also occur after prolonged disuse, hence balancing this trade off is the challenge for individual athletes and their coaches. Finally, MCV is a non-invasive indicator of muscle fibre type and fibre diameter, which in future may prove useful in optimising training regimens with respect to muscle fibre adaptations.

3. Conclusions and Applications

At the most basic level it can be concluded that short-sprint performance can be improved by sprint training in the modality being measured. The precise characteristics of training that result in the greatest improvements in performance remain uncertain and likely will differ substantially between individuals. However, optimal fibre type/MHC adaptations may be induced for most individuals, with a less frequent and lower volume of total training than that seen in most contemporary programmes. As such, rest and recovery would appear to be undervalued training variables. Furthermore, it would appear that some changes in MHC isoforms begin to be expressed within a week of heavy (I←IIa←IIb/IIx) or perhaps tapered training (potentially $I \rightarrow IIa \rightarrow$ IIb/IIx). Although positive adaptations to MHC profiles may occur in response to reduced training, lower training volume and frequency may not be optimal for enzymatic, SR and muscle fibre size adaptations. Nevertheless, the effects of detraining on short sprint or power performance as well as metabolic adaptation appear less severe than may have been reasonably anticipated. Longer sprints (>15 seconds), however, may be more adversely affected by detraining than short sprints. These factors have important implications for the design of the annual training plan for a short sprint athlete. In many cases athletes and coaches are often attempting to concurrently maximise adaptations that seem to require increased volume of training (enzymes, muscle fibre size, SR adaptation, enzymatic adaptation) and those that may respond optimally to reduced training (i.e. MHC composition). This may not be the most effective approach, although currently it is not possible to suggest with any certainty as to what the optimal short sprint training protocol is and likely it would differ substantially between individuals.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Dr David Jenkins for his insightful comments on the manuscript.

References

- Hopkins WG, Schabort EJ, Hawley JA. Reliability of power in physical performance tests. Sports Med 2001; 31 (3): 211-34
- Jenkins DG, Brooks S, Williams C. Improvements in multiple sprint ability with three weeks of training. NZ J Sports Med 1994; 22 (1): 2-5
- Linossier MT, Denis C, Dormois D, et al. Ergometric and metabolic adaptations to a 5 s sprint training programme. Eur J Appl Physiol 1993; 68: 408-14
- Anderson JL, Klitgaard H, Saltin B. Myosin heavy chain isoforms in single fibres from m. vastus lateralis of sprinters: influence of training. Acta Physiol Scand 1994; 151: 135-42
- Nevill ME, Boobis LH, Brooks S, et al. Effect of training on muscle metabolism during treadmill sprinting. J Appl Physiol 1989; 67 (6): 2376-82

- Cadefau J, Casademont J, Grau JM, et al. Biochemical and histochemical adaptation to sprint training in young athletes. Acta Physiol Scand 1990; 140: 341-51
- McKenna MJ, Schmidt TA, Hargreaves M, et al. Sprint training increases human skeletal muscle Na+-K+-ATPase concentration and improves K+ regulation. J Appl Physiol 1993; 75: 173-80
- Sleivert GG, Backus RD, Wenger HA. Neuromuscular differences between volleyball players, middle distance runners and untrained controls. Int J Sports Med 1995; 16 (5): 390-8
- Delecluse C, Van-Coppenolle H, Willems E, et al. Influence of high resistance and high velocity training on sprint performance. Med Sci Sport Exerc 1995; 27 (8): 1203-9
- Dawson B, Fitzsimmons M, Green S, et al. Changes in performance, muscle metabolites, enzymes and fibre types after short sprint training. Eur J Appl Physiol 1998; 78: 163-9
- Harridge SDR, Bottinelli R, Canepari M, et al. Sprint training, in vitro and in vivo muscle function, and myosin heavy chain expression. J Appl Physiol 1998; 84 (2): 442-9
- Ørtenblad N, Lunde PK, Levin K, et al. Enhanced sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ release following intermittent sprint training. Am J Physiol 2000; 279: R152-60
- Esbjornsson M, Hellsten-Westing Y, Balsom PD, et al. Muscle fibre type changes with sprint training: effect of training pattern. Acta Physiol Scand 1993; 149: 245-6
- Allemeier CA, Fry AC, Johnson P, et al. Effects of sprint cycle training on human skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 1994; 77 (5): 2385-90
- Jacobs I, Esbjornsson M, Sylven C, et al. Sprint training effects on muscle myoglobin, enzymes, fiber types, and blood lactate. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1987; 19: 368-74
- 16. Parra J, Cadefau JA, Rodas G, et al. The distribution of rest periods affects performance and adaptations of energy metabolism induced by high-intensity training in human muscle. Acta Physiol Scand 2000; 169: 157-65
- Francis C, Coplon J. Speed trap -inside the biggest scandal in olympic history. New York (NY): St. Martin's Press, 1991
- Penfold L, Jenkins D. Training for speed. In: Reaburn P, Jenkins D, editors. Training speed and endurance. St Leonards (NSW): Allen and Unwin, 1996: 24-41
- Linossier MT, Dormois D, Geyssant A, et al. Performance and fibre characteristics of human skeletal muscle during short sprint training and detraining on a cycle ergometer. Eur J Appl Physiol 1997; 75: 491-8
- Anderson JL, Aagaard P. Myosin heavy chain IIX overshoot in human skeletal muscle. Muscle Nerve 2000; 23 (7): 1095-104
- Hortobágyi T, Houmard JA, Stevenson JR, et al. The effects of detraining on power athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1993; 25 (8): 929-35
- Anderson-Johns R, Houmard JA, Kobe RW, et al. Effects of taper on swim power, stroke distance, and performance. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1992; 24 (10): 1141-6
- MacDougall JD, Hicks AL, MacDonald JR, et al. Muscle performance and enzymatic adaptations to sprint interval training. J Appl Physiol 1998; 84 (6): 2138-42
- Jansson E, Esbjornsson M, Holm I, et al. Increase in the proportion of fast-twitch muscle fibres by sprint training in males. Acta Physiol Scand 1990; 140: 359-63
- 25. Hirvonen J, Rehunen S, Rusko H, et al. Breakdown of highenergy phosphate compounds and lactate accumulation dur-

ing short supramaximal exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 1987; 56: 253-9

- Gaitanos GC, Williams C, Boobis LH, et al. Human muscle metabolism during intermittent maximal exercise. J Appl Physiol 1993; 75 (2): 712-9
- 27. Bogdanis GC, Nevill ME, Lakomy HKA, et al. Power output and muscle metabolism during and following recovery from 10 and 20 s of maximal sprint exercise in humans. Acta Physiol Scand 1998; 163: 261-72
- Jacobs I, Tesch PA, Bar-Or O, et al. Lactate in human skeletal muscle after 10 and 30s of supramaximal exercise. J Appl Physiol 1983; 55: 365-7
- Bogdanis GC, Nevill ME, Boobis LH, et al. Contribution of phosphocreatine and aerobic metabolism to energy supply during repeated sprint exercise. J Appl Physiol 1996; 80 (3): 876-84
- McCartney N, Spriet LL, Heigenhauser GJF, et al. Muscle power and metabolism in maximal intermittent exercise. J Appl Physiol 1986; 60: 1164-9
- Nevill M. Editorial: first impressions. J Sports Sci 2000; 18 (11): 847
- Fournier M, Ricci J, Taylor AW, et al. Skeletal muscle adaptation in adolescent boys: sprint and endurance training and detraining. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1982; 14 (6): 453-6
- Hellsten-Westing Y, Balsom PD, et al. The effect of high intensity training on purine metabolism in man. Acta Physiol Scand 1993; 149: 405-12
- Linnosier MT, Dormois D, Perier C, et al. Enzyme adaptations of human skeletal muscle during bicycle short-sprint training and detraining. Acta Physiol Scand 1997; 161: 439-45
- 35. Roberts AD, Billeter R, Howald H. Anaerobic muscle enzyme changes after interval training. Int J Sports Med 1982; 3: 18-21
- 36. Simoneau J-A, Lortie G, Boulay MR, et al. Effects of two highintensity intermittent training programs interspaced by detraining on human skeletal muscle and performance. Eur J Appl Physiol 1987; 56: 516-21
- Thorstensson A, Sjodin B, Karlsson J. Enzyme activities and muscle strength after 'sprint training' in man. Acta Physiol Scand 1975; 94: 313-8
- Hultman E, Sjoholm H. Energy metabolism and contraction force of human skeletal muscle in situ during electrical stimulation. J Physiol 1983; 345: 525-32
- Hautier CA, Wouassi D, Arsac LM, et al. Relationships between postcompetition blood lactate concentration and average running velocity over 100m and 200m races. Eur J Appl Physiol 1994; 68: 508-13
- Locatelli E, Arsac L. The mechanics and energetics of the 100m sprint. New Stud Athletics 1995; 10 (1): 81-7
- 41. Sharp RL, Costill DL, Fink WJ, et al. Effects of eight weeks of bicycle ergometer sprint training on human muscle buffer capacity. Int J Sports Med 1986; 7: 13-7
- 42. Costill DL, Daniels J, Evans W, et al. Skeletal muscle enzymes and fiber composition in male and female track athletes. J Appl Physiol 1976; 40: 149-54
- Boobis LH, Williams C, Wooton SA. Influence of sprint training on muscle metabolism during brief maximal exercise in man. J Physiol 1983; 342: 36P-7P

- 44. Tesch PA, Wright JE, Vogel JA, et al. The influence of muscle metabolic characteristics on physical performance. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1985; 54 (3): 237-43
- 45. Houston ME, Wilson DM, Green HJ, et al. Physiological and muscle enzyme adaptations to two different intensities of swim training. Eur J Appl Physiol 1981; 46: 283-91
- 46. McKenna MJ, Heigenhauser GJF, McKelvie RS, et al. Enhanced pulmonary and active skeletal muscle gas exchange during intense exercise after sprint training in men. J Physiol 1997; 501 (3): 703-16
- Cunningham DA, Faulkner JA. The effect of training on aerobic and anaerobic metabolism during a short exhaustive run. Med Sci Sports 1969; 1 (2): 65-9
- Volek JS, Kraemer WJ. Creatine supplementation: its effect on muscle performance and body composition. J Strength Cond Res 1996; 10 (3): 200-10
- Hellsten-Westing Y, Norman B, Balsom PD, et al. Decreased resting levels of adenine nucleotides in human skeletal muscle after high intensity training. J Appl Physiol 1993; 74 (5): 2523-8
- Lowenstein JM. The purine nucleotide cycle revised. Int J Sports Med 1990; 11: 37-45
- 51. Sabina RL, Holmes EW. Disorders of purine nucleotide metabolism in muscle. In: Taylor AW, Gollnick PD, Green HJ, et al., editors. Biochemistry of exercise. VII. Champaign (IL): Human Kinetics, 1990: 227-41
- Stathis CG, Febbraio MA, Carey MF, et al. Influence of sprint training on human skeletal muscle purine nucleotide metabolism. J Appl Physiol 1994; 76 (4): 1802-9
- Spriet LL. Anaerobic metabolism in human skeletal muscle during short-term intense activity. Can J Physiol Pharm 1990; 70: 157-65
- 54. Ferenczi MA, Goldman YE, Simmons RM. The dependence on force and shortening velocity on substrate concentration in skinned muscle fibres from rana temporaria. J Physiol 1984; 350: 519-43
- Asmussen E, Klausen K, Nielsen LE, et al. Lactate production and anaerobic work capacity after prolonged exercise. Acta Physiol Scand 1974; 90 (4): 731-42
- Hargreaves M, McKenna MJ, Jenkins DG, et al. Muscle metabolites and performance during high-intensity, intermittent exercise. J Appl Physiol 1998; 84 (5): 1687-91
- Green HJ. Mechanisms of muscle fatigue in intense exercise. J Sports Sci 1997; 15: 247-56
- Juel C. Muscle pH regulation: role of training. Acta Physiol Scand 1998; 162: 359-66
- 59. Allen DG, Westerblad H, Lännergren J. The role of intracellular acidosis in muscle fatigue. In: Gandevia S, Enoka R, McComas A, et al., editors. Fatigue-neural and muscular mechanisms. New York (NY): Plenum Press, 1995: 57-68
- Parkhouse WS, McKenzie DC. Possible contribution of skeletal muscle buffers to enhanced anaerobic performance: a brief review. Med Sci Sports 1984; 16 (4): 328-38
- Sahlin K, Hendriksson J. Buffer capacity and lactate accumulation in skeletal muscle of trained and untrained men. Acta Physiol Scand 1984; 122 (3): 331-9
- 62. Bell GJ, Wenger HA. The effect of one-legged sprint training on intramuscular pH and non-bicarbonate buffering capacity. Eur J Appl Physiol 1988; 58: 158-64

- Pette D, Staron RS. Cellular and molecular diversities of mammalian skeletal muscle fibres. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 1990; 116: 1-76
- 64. Brooke MH, Kaiser KK. Muscle fibre types: how many and what kind? Arch Neurol 1970; 23 (4): 369-79
- Green HJ. Myofibrillar composition and mechanical function in mammalian skeletal muscle. Sport Sci Rev 1992; 1: 43-64
- 66. Staron RS, Pette D. The multiplicity of myosin light and heavy chain combinations in histochemically typed single fibres: rabbit soleus muscle. Biochem J 1987; 243: 687-93
- Bottinelli R, Pellegrino MA, Canepari M, et al. Specific contributions of various muscle fibre types to human muscle performance: an in vitro study. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 1999; 9: 97-5
- Steinen GJM, Kiers JL, Bottinelli R, et al. Myofibrillar ATPase in skinned human skeletal muscle fibres: fibre type and temperature dependence. J Physiol 1996; 76: 493: 299-307
- Klitgaard H, Bergman O, Betto R, et al. Co-existence of myosin heavy chain I and IIa isoforms in human skeletal muscle fibres with endurance training. Pflugers Arch 1990 Jun; 416 (4): 470-2
- Bottinelli R, Schiaffino S, Reggiaini C. Force velocity relations and myosin heavy chain isoform compositions of skinned fibres from rat skeletal muscle. J Physiol 1991; 437: 655-72
- Anderson JL, Schjerling P, Saltin B. Muscle genes and athletic performance. Sci Am 2000 Sep: 48-55
- Widrick JJ, Trappe SW, Costill DL, et al. Force velocity and force-power properties from elite master runners and sedentary men. Am J Physiol, 1996; 271 (2 Pt 1): C676-83
- Anderson JL, Schiaffino S. Mismatch between myosin heavy chain mRNA and protein distribution in human skeletal muscle fibers. Am J Physiol 1997; 272 (41): C1881-9
- Anderson JL, Terzis G, Kryger A. Increase in the degree of co-expression of myosin heavy chain isoforms in skeletal muscle fibres of the very old. Muscle Nerve 1999; 22: 449-54
- Burnham R, Martin T, Stein R, et al. Skeletal muscle fibre type transformation following spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 1997; 35: 86-91
- Pette D. Training effects on the contractile apparatus. Acta Physiol Scand 1998; 162: 367-76
- Esbjornsson-Liljdahl M, Holm I, Sylvén C, et al. Different responses of skeletal muscle following sprint training in men and women. Eur J Appl Physiol 1996; 74: 375-83
- Simoneau J-A, Lortie G, Boulay MR, et al. Human skeletal muscle fibre type alteration with high intensity intermittent training. Eur J Appl Physiol 1985; 54: 250-3
- Denis C, Linossier MT, Dormoois D, et al. Power and metabolic responses during supramaximal exercise in 100m and 800m runners. Scand J Med Sci Sports 1992; 2: 62-9
- Esbjornsson M, Sylven C, Holm I, et al. Fast twitch fibres may predict anaerobic performance in both females and males. Int J Sports Med 1993; 14: 257-63
- Mero A, Luhtanen P, Viitaslo JT, et al. Relationship between the maximal running velocity, muscle fibre characteristics, force production and force relaxation of sprinters. Scand J Sports Sci 1981; 3: 16-22
- Maffiuletti NA, Martin A, Babault N, et al. Electrical and mechanical Hmax to Mmax ratio in power- and endurance-trained athletes. J Appl Physiol 2001; 90: 3-9

- Carrington CA, Fisher W, White MJ. The effects of athletic training and muscle contractile character in the pressor response to isometric exercise of the humans triceps surae. Eur J Appl Physiol 1999; 80: 337-43
- Goldspink G, Scutt A, Martindale J, et al. Stretch and force generation induce rapid hypertrophy and myosin isoform gene switching in adult skeletal muscle. Biochem Soc Trans 1994; 19: 368-73
- 85. Stevens L, Firinga C, Gohlsch B, et al. Effects of unweighting and clenbuterol on myosin light and heavy chains in fast and slow muscles of rat. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2000; 279 (5): C1558-63
- Ausoni S, Gorza L, Schiaffino S, et al. Expression of myosin heavy chain isoforms in stimulated fast and slow rat muscles. J Neurosci 1990; 10 (1): 153-60
- Baldwin KM, Valdez V, Herrick RE, et al. Biochemical properties of overloaded fast-twitch skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 1982; 52 (2): 467-72
- Kadi F, Thornell LE. Training affects myosin heavy chain phenotype in the trapezius muscle of women. Histochem Cell Biol 1999; 112: 73-8
- Staron RS, Karapondo DL, Kraemer WJ, et al. Skeletal muscle adaptation during early phase of heavy resistance training in men and women. J Appl Physiol 1994; 76: 1247-55
- Staron RS, Leonardi MJ, Karapondo DL, et al. Strength and skeletal muscle adaptations in heavy-resistance-trained women after detraining and retraining. J Appl Physiol 1991; 70 (2): 631-40
- Ishida K, Moritani T, Itoh K. Changes in voluntary and electrically induced contractions during strength training and detraining. Eur J Appl Physiol 1990; 60: 244-8
- Wiemann K, Tidow G. Relative activity of hip and knee extensors in sprinting and implications for training. New Stud Athletics 1995; 10 (1): 29-49
- Trappe S, Costill D, Thomas R. Effect of swim taper on whole muscle and single muscle fiber contractile properties. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000; 32 (12): 48-56
- Alway SE, MacDougall JD, Sale DG, et al. Functional and structural adaptations in skeletal muscle of trained athletes. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64 (3): 1114-20
- Alway SE. Characteristics of the elbow flexors in women bodybuilders using androgenic-anabolic steroids. J Strength Cond Res 1994; 8 (3): 161-9
- Chu A, Saito A, Fleisher S. Preparation and characterization of longitudinal tubules of sarcoplasmic reticulum from fast skeletal muscle. Arch Biochem Biophys 1987; 258 (1): 13-23
- Kugelberg E, Thornell L-E. Contraction time, histochemical type and terminal cisternae volume of rat motor units. Muscle Nerve 1983; 6: 149-53
- Ruegg JC. Calcium in muscle activation: cellular and molecular physiology. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer Verlag, 1992
- Carroll SL, Klein MG, Schneider MF. Decay of calcium transients after electrical stimulation in rat fast- and slow-twitch muscle fibres. J Physiol 1997; 501 (3): 573-88
- Green HJ. Cation pumps in skeletal muscle: potential role in muscle fatigue. Acta Physiol Scand 1998; 162: 201-13
- 101. Midrio M, Danieli-Betto D, Megighian A, et al. Early effects of denervation on sarcoplasmic reticulum properties of slowtwitch rat muscle fibres. Pflugers Arch 1997; 434: 398-405

- 102. Hicks A, Ohlendieck K, Göpel SO, et al. Early functional and biochemical adaptations to low frequency stimulation of rabbit fast twitch muscle. Am J Physiol 1997; 273 (1 Pt 1): C297-305
- Sadoyama T, Masuda T, Miyata H, et al. Fibre conduction velocity and fibre composition in human vastus lateralis. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1988; 57: 767-71
- 104. Kupa EJ, Roy SH, Kandarian SC, et al. Effects of muscle fibre type and size on EMG median frequency and conductionvelocity. J Appl Physiol 1995; 79: 23-32
- 105. Bianchi S, Rossi B, Siciliano G, et al. Quantitative evaluations of systemic and neuromuscular modifications induced by specific training in sedentary subjects. Med Sport (Roma) 1997; 50 (1): 15-29
- 106. Matsunaga S, Sadoyama T, Miyata H, et al. The effects of strength training on muscle fibre conduction velocity of surface action potential. Jpn J Phys Fitness Sports Med 1990; 39 (2): 99-105
- 107. Gavira M, Ohanna F. Variability of the fatigue response of paralysed skeletal muscle in relation to the time after spinal cord injury: mechanical and electrophysiological characteristics. Eur J Appl Physiol 1999; 80 (2): 145-53

Correspondence and offprints: *Angus Ross,* School of Human Movement Studies, University of Queensland, St Lucia, QLD 4072, Australia.

E-mail: angur@hms.uq.edu.au